Chapter XVIi. o
"Upon Hopkinton Read ##%*and West of Turkey River.

This title describes another of the outlying school dlstricts provided
for at the I766 town meeting.Ilt covered a wide section of the country-
side for it included the settlement at Millville,the farms on Dimond and
~and Stickney hills,as well as those at Iron Works and along the Bog roady
The first schoolhouse to serve this wide area is sald to have been on the
east side of Silk Farm road not far from the Haseltine house.In later
years ﬁhe building wasdmoved'%@ the angle of roads directly vesdt of the
gite of Coit H&use.

As soon as the Indlan menace lessened,there was a éteady increase
in pioneering in the remote parts of Rumford.About I750 Reuben'Dimond of
South Hampton gave to his.son,Ezekiel,the sightly land on top of Dimond
hill.The young man, them about twenty-five years old,cleared the land,
built a iog house on the brow of the hill and then brought to this home
his wife,Miriam Fowler,and their littie son,Bzekiel,Jr.It was an iso=-
lated place for the little family,but in time Daniel Chase,Jr.and his
brother,Jonathan,settled on Ash brook at the foot of the hill.

Meantime 1life on the exposed hill-top wae hazardous and time and
again scouts warned the Dimonds that Indians were prowling about.On
such alarms,the family took refuge in Parson Walker's garrison.On one
such occasion Mrs.Dimond had a web of cloth in her loom and she refused
to leave it to possible destruction,so she delayed flight long enough to
take out the yérd beam,winding the reed and harness about it so that it
could be carried on horseback to the garrison.

When peace at last arrived,Ezekiel Dimond began adding to his farm
until he owned two hundred acres bounded on the west by the Hopkinton
line.He acquired a mill privilege on Turkey river'between Great Turkey
and the lesser pond" and there,on the Dunbarton road,he ran a fulling
mill prior to I78T7.Rated as & Proprietor by right of purchase,he bullt

a frame house in keeping with his sitanding among the town folk and that
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house stands today as here pletured,on the north slde of Hopkinton road
and very near the town line.ln wmodern days when the olapbearxds were Ve
placed,a loophole was uncovered in the west wall,showling that the houne
dates back to the days when Indlan approach_from the forests to the weat
was still an ever present fear. '
On this homestead the Dimonds raised a large family-seven sons

and two daughters.Two little slsters died 1n infancy but the nine sur-
viving children,with one exception,lived to more than the alloted span
of"three score years and ten", When the town made its first provision fo}
a school in this part of rur#l Concofd,the oldesp of the chlldren was
seventeen years old.He and his brothers and sisters had been taught by
father and mother who were rated"good readers",and were thus competent
to teach the youngsters in the "three Rs."Tradition paints a pleasant
plcture of the Dimond famlly gathered about the roaring fire on long
winter evenings,holding their own private school by the light of pitch
pine knots and candlewood.Painstakingly they made thelr pot-hookas or did
their sums with a charred stick on gtrips of blrch bark.They practiced
reading aloud from the Blble that most wonderful of all text-books,or
from one of the scanty collection of family books-all in conformity to
a dally stint. |

80 excellent were the results of this simple education that one of
the sons,Jacob,became a professional school teacher and somewhat of a
literary man.le taught what was probably the first school to bs opened
in the lmmediate Dimond hill neighborhood,when an old abandoned cabln
was used to house the puplls.In later 1ife( 1792 or 93)Jacob Dimond went
to Kennebec,Ms.where he taught school and dld professional writling for
buslness men less proficient than himself,

Ezekiel Dimond and his wife were devoted"professors of religion"

and it was a grief,especlally to his mother,that Jacob Dimond failed to

"experience religlon" according to the standard of the time .During this
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of her great concern for his soul's welfare.Jacob had a gifﬁ for rhyme
ing and because he longed to comfort his mother he wrote this 1ittlé
écrostic for her just before his departure:

"Jesus, thou mighty King on high,

And soverelgn Lord of all below,

Command thy greatsaivation nigh;

0 Lord,to me thy mercy show;

Hehold I stand in needl

Deal gently with thy servant,Lord;

In mercy,Lord incline;

May I receive the Gospel sound-

Obey 1ts precepts,and be found

Near to thy throne of grace."
Such humility and reverence were characteristic even a&ong those who
8t1ll delayed to profess religlon in the old days.

Four of the Dimondﬂsons served during the Revolution.Reuben enlist-
2d under Cgpt.Kinsman in May,I775 and fought at Bynker Hill.Enlisting
again in the early summer of I777,he was a member of the gallant detail
which stormed the breastworks at Bennington and he fought again at Sara-
toga.Following the war he married Molly Currier g??lron Works, family and
the young couple settled in VWest Parish.

In November I775,Isaac Dimond enlisted under Capt.Benjamin Emery
and before his time was up he re-enlisted for one year under Cgpt.

John Hele.Mllitary service led him to Albany,lake George,Lake Champlain,
St.John's and Sorel in Cidnada and then back to Ticonderoga.le was with
the troops when the Hessians were captured at Trenton.He volunteeered in
I777 under(ﬂipt.Joshua Abbot and marched to Fort Edward to cut off Bure
goyne's army.His brother, Ezekiel,Jr., was in Cépt.Ehenezer Webeﬁer(s
company at Tlconderoga in I777 and in G&PY%. Joshua Abbot's company in
the fall of that year,as it marched to reinforce the Northern Army.

Soon éfﬁer the Revolutlon,Ezekiel,Jr. moved to Warner whére his
father owned Proprietor's shares.Jjohn,another brother,lived on Dimond

roaq(now closed) on land which was undoubtedly a part of his father's

farm ,His house stood on the west side of the road and there he raised a
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family of twelve children,half of whom were daughters who marrisd and
established homes not far from Dimond hill.John Dimond had'a grandson,
David,born in Grotomn,who graduated at Dartmouth in 1842 and entered

the ministry,finally becoming professor of Greek and latin in a Missourld
college.Two brothers of the original family cn Dimond hill have already

been mentloned,Abner and lsrael.

In I787 the father of the Dimond famlly deeded the homestead farm
to his son,Isaac,and ten years later father and son 80ld the 0ld house
near the town 1ine4with eighty acres of the large farm.In I830 1t became
the property of Joshua Berry whose descendents OWned it for a century.
ﬁeaniime Isasc Dimond built a new house on the site of the present Dimond
Hill Farm house.A few years later the old pioneer dled and in I809 his
good wife,Mliriam,who had shared so gallantly in the years of his toil
and adventure,was lald to rest by his side in the new Millville cemetery,

After his parents‘death,Isaac Dimond migrated to Warner so that
three of the brothers finished their lives in that town.Isaac's grave

is at Warner parade.When the Dimond hill property was sold,it was advere
tised as a ninety sere farm" 4 miles from the ffeeting House in Concord
and 3 miles from Hépkinton Court-house,"with a house"partly two story,
well calculated for public- use."For a time its owner was Ezra Hutchins,
son of Col.CGordon Hutchins,but in I827 it was purchased by Joseph 5.Ab-
bot,"housewright",whose descendents still occupy the farm(I954).Eventu- |
ally the house was moved across the higﬁway where 1t now standse as plc=
tured and a modern housge-was bullt on its origlnal site.

Joseph S.Abbot (b.I800) was brought up on hils father's farm at the
west end of Long pond and in the house which then stood opposite that
of his grandfather, Pgniel Abbot.When he was fourteen,the lad ran away bu
not very far,for he tarried in West Village and there he learned his
trade.After his marrilage to Esther Farnum,he acqulired the farm on Dimond

hill and carried on a sash and blind shop on the south side of the road
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a little to the east old houge.ge took his lumber direct from the mill
and during the winter months when buildiﬁg waé'slack,he made it up enes
tirely by hand and marketed the product in the spring.bHe was a man of
unusual enterprise and great energy.At one iime he hadAa conatruction
jobe in Manchester but spent hls week ends at home,maklng the round
trip on foot.He won rencwsn ag a builder and was identified with the
building of Concord's filrst railroad statlon.

Of Joseph Abbot's two children,one was a daughter named Almira
whose lover was & poungsdartmouth college instructor in chemlatry,
named Ezeklel W.Dimond»Hé was a grandson of Ezeklel,Jr. who pioneered
in Warner and the fourth of his name in direct descent from the pioneer
on Dimond hill.The untimely death of Almira ended the romance and Prof,
Dimond died at the early age of fortiy,in Hanover.

There are other old houses on Dimond hill which have interesting
assoclations .Among them is o0ld home built by Robert Knowlton in IBOI.

A blacksmith by trade and a Revolutiopary veteran,he was proud to tell
how,during the war,he shod the horse of George Washington.He came to
Concord from Cape Ann and carried on his trade in a little smithy east
of his house,its site being marked by a large granite hitching post whidh
stands 6n the bank above the present level of the road.Doubtless busi-
ness was good for there was much travel between Concord and Hopkinton in
those days when the latter town was a close rival of Concord in popula-
tion and importance.Robert Knowlton was the father of nine sons-%diatinen
tion in itself-and two of these sons married grand daughters of Ezekiel
Dimond, the pioneer.This old homestead remained in the possession of
Knowlton descendents untll recent years.

On the south side of Hopkinton road and opposite the Knowlton
house stands the old home of Lieut.Asa Herrick(b.I754)whose name is on

the list of minute men for the"Oxford War" in I797.This was the time when
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war with France threatened and Concord was concerned with its guota of
the eighty thouseand men required by Congress.Concord pétriota,old and
young responded-the young men Jolning a company under Capt.Nathaniel
Green of Boscawen which was to march to Oxford,Mass.there to awalt ore
ders,hence the local term,"Oxford War."The older men formed a company of
minute men which comprised the leading citlzens of the:town.

In I807 Lieut.Herrick represented his neighborhood on a commite
tee to map the growing town into school dlstricts.He was a surveyor and
as such,sometimes helped to"perambulate' the town line.Thus engaged
west of Long pond, together with Moseas Abbot and Richard Flanders who
1ived near the line,he became the center of an old tale.Working through
the woods to check on the boundary maglgers,their dog was heard barkilng
furiously,and they found him greatly excited at the huge root of a fal-
len tree.Investigating,they found a bear concealed and Abbot hit the
beast on the head with his axe.The bear attempted to attack but Abbot
quickly turned the edge of hls axe and"with a well almed blow atruck it
into the bear's head and soon killed it."The animsl must have been of
great size for the story ends:"After drawing the bear out,Lleut.Herrick
seeing 1ts huge paws,was greatly terrified,being more afraid of a dead
bear than a live one"-a joke appreciated by his companions.

Lieut.Herrick's daughter,Anna(or Nancy b.I796)married Isapc Broctor

and they lived in this house for many years so that it 1s generally
known by their name.In I8I9 there was a move to open the Rangeway which
began near this house and ran south to Dunbarton road but no agtion was
taken.Down the hill a short distance stands the prett& little house of
our plcture which belonged to Proctors of a later generation.It was

moved to this location from Straw road west of the Hopkinton 1line in the
fifties or earlier.lt stands on or very near the slte of the cabin where

Daniel Chease,Jr.lived years before.
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At the foot of Dlmond hill and on the north slide of the highway 12
the charming old home of Atkinson Webster{b.IT97}.le merried a daughe
ter of Col.Benning Smart of Stickney hill and built this house under
the shade of its fine elm.In I830,his father,Stephen ¥Wehster,came fronm
Atkinson to make his-home with his sonfs family .Stephen ¥Webster(b.I758)
served three campaigns in the Revolutlon and fought in the battles at
Saratoga,Stony Point and Diamond Island.His son was a master buillder
and erected our first Court House,rebuilt the State Héuae and bullt
various houses in town,among them that at No.9 Tahanto St. and that at
No.80-80% School St..It is on a corner of this Webster farm that the
oldest schoolhouse left in Coﬁcord now stands.Atkinson Webster and his
father were among the first members of the Hethodist Church which was
organized 1n Concord in IB25.

South of Dimond hill rises Stickney hill named for the ploneer
settler on the height,Jonathan Stickney,son of Lieut.Jeremiah Stickney.
Born in 1739 soon after the family arrived in Rumfdrd,as a young man
he adventured on this lonely hill,clearing his flelds and bullding a
cabin on the slope back of the Scales house shown in our plicture.His
0ld well 1s st1ll to be found but the"mansion” built in Jonathan's
prosperous days,fell victim to.lightning years ago.Tradltion tells thst
the ell of the house and the barn escaped destruction and were moved v
from the slope to become part of the present buildinggeThe early road
up the hill followed a course somewhat to the south of the pregent
highway and probably nearer the original "mansion",

In I774,Jonathan Stickney was commissioned lieutnent in Capt.
Joshua Abbot's company of militia and when the Revolﬁtion began he en-
tered service.The Concord Herald of Nov.I792 cafried this notice:"Died
In this town on Sunday night of Small Pox in the natural way,Lleut.
Jonathan Stickney,aged 53."The evening before ,a child in the family

had died of the dread disea e and so great was the fear of contagion
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in the town,that these victims were hastlly buried 1ln a g@cludad spob
on the farm.In later years other members of the family were burled near
by but most of the markers have disappeared.Col.Benning Smart,}ater
owner of the farm,and his son,Charles,gave this little cemetery plot
to the town in I843.It is on Hart road which connects the Stickney hill
road with Dunbarton road.

Lieut.Jonathan Stickney was twice married and his famlly come
prised sixteen children.The fourteenth of these was Jonathan,Jdre({ born
1788)who bullt,according to neighborhood tradition,the house here pilc-
tured.It was at this point that the original highway turned south so

that this house then faced the road which ran between 1t and 1lts barn.
The road was changed in 1822 so the . house antedates that year.later
occupants of this farm found relics which indicate that long before the
Stickneys came to the hill,it was an aﬁcient camping ground for Indians:
Jonathan,Jr.died in 1835 and was buried near hls father at the foot of
the hill.A stone marked his grave within the memory of living man but,
cracked by the frost of years,it fell énd finally disappeared.

Further up the hill stands an old house which,until recent re-
modelling,faced the south where the original road used to run,wlth its
back door to the present highway.For many years it was owned by the
Goodwin family who purchased it in I83I.It was then unfinished and
was built,so tradition says,by E@miel'Stickney(b.1762)brother of Jone
athan,Jr.about I790.Danlel moved away from Concord,evidently to Plain-

field where hils second chlld was born.When he was eighteen,Danlel’s
name was on the list of"new levies" for -the Revolutlion(I780).
On the north side of Stickney hill road is the Capt.John Sherburne
house where a famous elm used to stand, which measured seventieen feeti
in clrcumference at four feet from the ground.Capt.Sherburne was a
Portsmouth"yeoman"who bought thils farm"on the north side of the Country
Road"in I807.The fact that Widow Anna Stickney had a "dower privilege
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in the Bgrn"and a part of the orchard,indlcates thati the property was
a part of Lieut.Jonathan's farm.

Interesting legends clirg to Stlckney nill.At one time,so 1t.&s
saild,a poor old dependent,Grénny Aulds,lived on the Stiskney farm and
there were those who called her a witch.At the foot of the hill where
the road turns off to the little graveyard, there lived a fldgetily man
named Ciary who declared that Granny bewitched him.So fearful was he of
her malign influence,that he left town.One day far from Concord,he was
in a field dlgging potatoes when suddenly he stopped work, jumped into
the alr clicking his heels,and screamed"Granny Auids is dead!" "Ang",
continues the narrator,"true enough,she was dead."

Down in the hollow where this"Old Country Road" crosses Turkey
river "between CGreat Turkey and the lesser pond" , may be seen the ruins
of an ancient dam.Here Ezeklel Dimond had hils fulling mill,a half inter-
egt in which he sold to his sonwinniaw,Jonathan Runnels, in I787.In 1799
Runnels deeded a part of the water power to Daniel Kendall and one of
the boundaries mentioned In the deed is"a stake and stone a small dis-
tance from the fore door of my new dwelling house.,"Time was when this
water power-ran a large shingle mill but that and the fulling mill are
long since gone.Jonathan Runnels's'new dwelling house" was acquired by
St,Paui's School amd in I95I it was torn down.It was an excellent ex-
ample of the late eighteenth century farmhouse.lte west front room and
its long,low kitchen had the old panelling and wainscot while the front
hall backed by a huge chimney,had a good stalrcase with landings and
carved skirting.The doors had the original latches and H and L hinges.

Jonathan Runnels,born in Lee I758,wished to enlist in the Revo-
lution War with his father and older brothers,but was dissuaded because
of his youth.Restless,he made his way to Concord and met and married
Ezekiel Dimond's daughter,Dorothy.Parson Wglker notes thelr wedding in

his diary,Nov.9,I780.0nce again Jonathan planned to enlist but was de-
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layed by a serlous 1illness of his young wife.The famlly eventually moved
Deering where he died April I8,1804.Jonathan Runnels had the distinction
of being a"seventh son" and according to the bellsf of that time,he was
consulted by hundreds of people suffering from scrofula and other disease
because of his supposed heallag powers

Running south from the old Dunbarton road to the Bow line is Silky
Farm road énd there we find the old house of our p%cture.Thia was the
homestead farm of Lleut.Jpseph Haseltine and his wife,Elizabeth Abbot
(b.I731)and here they raised a family of nine children.The pr@seni house
was bullt in I802 by their son,Ballard,who.1nherited the place at his
father's death.Mrs.Haseltine lived there until her death at the gfeat age
of one hundred years and six months,retaining her accurate memory until
the very last.Born in the earliest daye of the town,her reminiscences,
flavored always with kindliness and by her wivacity of epirlt,made her
a pergon of distinction.She was beloved becausé of her neighborly deeds.
Many a time she was sént for in cases of illness or distress amd,even
when past middle life,she always responded to such calls.Often in mide
winter nlghts when snow lay deep,she strapped on her snowshoes and Joure
neyed across the flelds ahd over snow-buried walls and fences,to the
help of a sick neighbor.

Widowed thirty-five years before her own death,Mrs.Haseltine's Puis
itan faith upheld her spirit in sweetness and good cheer.On her ninetye=
ninth birthday,her pastor,Rev.Nathaniel Bouton, journeyed with many of )
her friends in the village,to this home on Silk Farm road and there held
a religious service.The text of the sermon was"Cast me not off in the

time of o0ld age;forsake me not when my strength faileth." A year later
this birthday observance was repeated to Mrs.Haseltineds Joy and comfort,
S5aid she to her young minister-"When you preached here last year from
the text in Psalms 7I1:9,I 4id not expect thét I should hear another sere

mon.But I am thankful that the Lord spared me to hear the word once mors.
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Today I am a monument to His mercy and a witnaés for Hls goodness and
forbearance."Then,sltting in her arm chair,this"Mother in Israel" lis-
tened reverently to the service held in her honor as a centenarlan.

Joseph Haseltine's first purchase in the vicinity of Turkey pond
was from his father,Richard,in I757.When he died in I798,his son,Bale
lard(b. I769)succeeded him and kept the farm&ntil his mother's death in
1834.The place was then sold to a company of Concord men incorporated
the following year for the manufacture of silk.Mulberry trees were plang
ed near the house and silk worms were cultivated for a few years and
81lk was made in small quantities,but the buslness wae not a success,

The first schoolhouse built to serve children"upon the Hopkinton
road and westerly of Turkey pond"1s sald to have stood on the east side
of Silk Farm road and not far from the Haseltine house.In later years 1%
wag moved to the angle of roads directly west of Colt House which faced
Silk Farm road.

The story of Iron Works Dlstrict has been told with absorbing in-
terest by the late George T.Abbott who was born and lived his 1life with-
in its borders.The traditions with which his tale abounds were told by

his mother,Mrs.Nancy Badger Abbot,who married Aaron Abbot of the Ircn
Works 1in I824,.,A few typed coples of thls story are iﬁ existence one of
which 1s placed in the N.H.Historical Soclety.It furnishes much of the
1nforma£ion used here. |

Iron VWorks road begins at Wheeler's Corner on the old"Country road

to Bow"{South St.)and runs westerly to Silk F&rmiroad.At one end of the
short bridge which spans Turkey river,is a ta®let which marks the site of
an lron foundry and rolling mill established in I760.The promoters of
this enterprise were Dr:Phillp Carrigain,second physician to settle in
Concord permanently,Daniel Gale,the town's blacksmith,and Daniel Carter
whos#farm lay Just beyond the bridge.Ore used in the foundry was

dug in the Soucook river valley near "Egypt" on the First N.H.Turnpike,
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but the ore was too inferlor in quality to produce a Tlourishing busi-
ness .,

There is a tradition that cannon balls were made here for use ip
the Bevolutioneperhaps in antlcipation of local need for defence.h atory
of earlier date concerns a 2ill crank forged in I765 and ﬁeighing slimty
pounds which was to be delivered to Newbury,Vt. A party of six men stars
ed from Concord,dragging it on a hand slediover the snow,on a trail
which led from our valley to the Connecticut rive}eAs they‘crossed New.
found Lake on the ice,the cold was so intense that they narrowly escaped
perishing.When the foundry was closed,the plant was used for a saw mill
(II3) and in later years 1t was destroyed by fire.

Danlel Carter who probably ran the foundry,was a brother of Dr.
Ezra Carter Ist.In I745 he purchased his home farm on Turkey river from
Abraham Kimball who 1s said to have been the second man to ploneer in
this section.The log house on his one hundred and'thirty acre farm stood
on the opposite side of the road from the pregent house and nearer the
river.To this home Danlel Carter brought his wife and three little chil-
dren from their old home in Sa&th Hampton.Twice during those early years
Indlans attacked the lonely house in an effort to capture the family.

The present house,here pictured,is an ancient one modernized
and 1t 1s sald that it originally stood across the road where ite old
well may still be found .Brobably it%builder was'Joseph Carter,sonn of
Daniel and if so,it may have been the birthplace of Nathaniel H.Carter
(b.I787),Juseph’s son.At any rate it was his boyhood home.Dr.Bouton
opines that Nathaniel stood "pre-eminent among the sons of Concord in
literary merit."This later day offers few if any,rivals among native
gons or daughters.

As @ boy the lad's interest in books was so keen that his father

éncouraged him inseeking the best possible educatlon.He attended a prive

ate school conducted by Rev.Abrahasm Burnham of Pembroke,had further prep



XVII, I3
aration at Exeter and entered Dartmouth college,graduating with Fhi
Beta Kappa rank in I8II.From beginning to end he pald all expense of
this education by his own effort and followed graduation by téaching
school in varlous towns.In I8I9 he was teaching in Concord for three
dollars per week.He became pwafﬁasowiofa%gngnages aL E@rtmouth;leaving
that post to read law in Albany,N.Y. Such were hls gifts that,in this
new field,he was sponsored by DeWitt Clinton and other promlnent men,
to become founder and editor of the N.Y.Statesman-a paper distinguiahed
for its literary standard and for able and independent editorialse
During this period in his career,Mr.Carter travelled widely in Eu-
rope and upon his returﬁ,he published a two volume editibn of his"Letters
from BEurope".When barely forty years of age he fell victim to the dread'ct
"consumption"and sought relief in winter by trips to Cuba.At that time
tuberculosis was practically incurable.In the fall of I828 he made hls
last trip to Concord and found admiring hosplitality on every hand,but he
stole away from the town and its adulation long enough $o visit the banks
of 1little Turkey river-"scene of my boyhood's earliest dream".With melan-
choly appreclation of his fate,he wrote on a chill Npvember day before
leaving Concord,the vpoems "To My Natlve Stream"-a touching farewell in
1impid verse.Shortly afterward he sailed for the south of France in his
final effort for health and dled at Marsellles a few weeks after landing.
While Nathanlel was gtill an undergraduate at college,hls father
sold the homestead to William Abbot,known to the next generatlon as"Uncle
Billie" .He was a grandson of Benjamln Abbot whose old.red house still
stands at the corner of South and Clinton Sts.William Abbot and his sons
by sheer hard wbrk and thrift,made é snug fortune.The last of these sons,
William,Jr.{b.I80I)built the house on South St.which,after his death,be-
came the N.H.Memorial Hospital.Mr.Abbot's will provided for the church
of his forefatherg,a legacy which made posslible a much needed chapel

which,remodelled,is still in use at the First Congregational Church.It
was named Abbott Memorlal Chapel and a portrait of William Abbott long
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hung on 1ts wall.
At the west end of Iron Works road stands a low roomy house in a
setting of trees and wild shrubs.It is probably the oldest house in this
neighborhood for it was bullt to replace the log cabin of Nathaniel Ab=-
bot,Jr.,plomeer settler.Sun of Nathaniel Abbot of the village;at the age
of twenty he dared the Indlian peril,only a year after the massacre near
the mills on Turkey riverland made hls home in this isolated spot.A year
or two later he marrled Miriam Chandler but the times were too dangerous
to take her to this home.Nathanlel,himself cultivated his cleared land
only under protection of an armed gusrd.Tﬂis one hundre@ acre farm 1s
sald to have been acquired by his father in I734.
As soon as peace was assured, the young couple settled in the log
house in the hollow and,with prosperlty,they bullt the house of our pic-
ture.The log cabin stood as long as theirldescendents occupled the farm
but after a hundred and seventy-five years,a new owner destroygd this
priceless ekample of a ploneer dwelling.Four sons were reared on this
farm,Nathaniel C.,Moses,Philip and Joshua,and all served in the Revolut;oﬂ
but only Moses who settled in West Pgrish)remained in Concord.Two of the
brbthers pioneered in Rumford,Me.( I784)hauling their goods thither in hand

sleds through forest wilds and camping beside the trail at night.levi
(b.I767)inherited the farm and married Polly Carter,sister of Nathanlel H.
Cartere.

Travelling out Bog road and passing Turkey pond,one crosses

two brooks-Tury and Peters (or Bela's).Approaching the Dunbarton line one
basses Hart road which connected Stickney hill road with this Dunbarton
road.On the west corner of this old cross road there stood for many years
the handsome‘old house of our picture,destroyed by fire in the wihter of
I1946.This was the farm of Daniel Hgll,early settler in Iron Works Distrit
and son of Ebenezer Hall at Millville.Daniel's mother ,Dorcas Abbot, inhes

i1ted land near the pond from her father,Proprietor Edward Abbot.lkely th§
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this was the tract which the young man cleared for his farm.Bprn in

1755,Daniel Hall married Deborah Davis,daughter of Lieut.Robert Davis
of the village and thelr first child was born in 1776 in & log house
near the road.Tradition tells of an adventure which befell them on
Thanksgiving Day,possiﬁiy in that very year of '7T6.There had been a fam-
ily gathering at Ebenezer Hall's house near the mills and,as night
closed down,Daniel mounted his horse,his young wife stepped to the pil-
lion and baby Dorcas was placed snugly in herarm.Away they rode toward
their own home but as they rounded Turkey pond, thelr horse showed panic
and almost immediately#ame the long howl of wolves.lelling the story to
his grandchildren long years after,Daniel H2ll would say-"If Dolly
couldn't have run a mile as quick as by two seconds,or cleared Peters
broock with a single Jump,with two persons and a babe on her back,we
could not have told you this story tonight.”

Eventually Daniel Hall bullt the house of our picture which was
the home of his son and his grandson.Of 6éniel's fourteen chlildren,
James(b.I784)married Ruth Abbot,daughter of Cgpt.BenJamin Abbot who
fought at Bynker Hill,and they,in turn,were the parents of Dr.Robert
Hall(b.IB8IO)who was born on the place and whose story follows.In the
meantime,we turn again to the home of Daniel Carteriin the day when its
owner was Joseph Carter.Joseph had a daughte;Abigall,who married Ebene-
zer Capen of a neighboring farm in I805,and the couple moved to the
northern part of the state.

Peters brook-its earliest name-is also known as Bela's brook be=
cause Bela Carter,grandson of Dr.Ezra Carter Ist, owned the farm through
>which the brook flows on its way to Great Turkey pond.The old farm
house stands as pictured on the north side of Dunbarton road, facing
Birchdale road and in sight of the Hall place.In I784 Obadiah Hall
(b.2748) a broﬁher of Dgniel Hall,sold thils elghty acre farm to Ephralw

Carter and 1t remained in that family until his son,Bela sold it in
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1833.3ela moved tb the Horse-hill nelghborhioud wierc he 1s sald to have
livecd: just below the brufug:e at pregent Ri«.{elﬂhill.ﬁ@}ia(cr‘ "Qealey) marrisd
Juditiy Carter,sister of Sqwire.Timoth}ﬁ Carter who lived on Carter hill
and thig may have irsluenced the family lu moving to the new home.Bela
wag sald to be'a man not regowned for his réligious worth" prebably be-
cause he was unorthodox in smuch of hig attitude toward 1ife-an édd char-
acter,but intelligent and well-read according o the standard of the
tines.He was rated“an lnteresting talier’ and ghose to educate his numer-
ous childrem after his own original hethods.Soon after he left the fany
on Bela's prook it bzeame the property of Ebanezer Capcon who moved his
family thither from Stewartstown.

Amonz theo Capen's children wase#&amghter,tueimda~$ueamnah(b‘E8I50
and on June 4,183%%,she and her next éo@r nsigubor,Robert Hall ,were mar
ried and wmade their home in Loudoh for a short time.Returning to Com-
cord,they continued for»sefén years and during that period two éhibﬁrem
wers bornd ¥ thom.d daughter,Ann 'L@uesa,marriﬁd@ son of Rew.Nathanisl
Bowton and became the m@ther,gf’Rev.T.c;H:Bodt@n,thus mamedﬁy Ann Louesa
for her.brsther,Tilt@n Clark Hall,who was aceidgntalny killed Wh&lé tnumte
ing the year his nemesske was born.The young mother died when fier babe
was only two months old and the Halls were thus doubly pereaved.

In the msantime,Robsrt Hall had developed am interest in medicine
and,for @ time,he acted as lay asgistant for PrLemuel Paige of Wéaré.ln
IS47 he returneed oncas wore to Concord as an apétheaary.ﬂrs, Héll algo
became intserested in medjicine and while - living in Weare she studied in
br.Paige's office.Amxious to hecoms @ physician,she faced difficulty
for no msdical school of that day would admit a2 female,so she turned
to the next best thing-g VQ@wr.sav of training for midwives in the newly
opsned Bogtoﬁ Female Medical College.She graduated in the first class
of twelwe women and'for ;he next few yesrs practiced midwifry,the only

woman se engagoed in the state who held such a eortificate.
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In I846 an eclectic achool under the namz of Worcester %@uicml
College was opened in that city and after’ securing*&.massaah&saﬁﬁ@ Char=
tef,1t opened a women's dspartment in I1852.Mrs.Hall was oms of the three
first womewn to emroll and,after taking a course which lasted froa March
t111 June, she received her degree of M.D.Her husbané algo took a course.
and received his degree two yeers later.Then began & busy carear for t
these two physicians.Dr.Luwcinda began practice in Lowell,Mass.at & time
when, in all {few gﬁglaﬁd,there were only four women holding #laa degres of
4.D.,she being the fifét Kew Bugland born woman to win the degree.

In 1857 the Halle came back.to Concord to stay and made their honme
on Birchdale Springs road in the pretty little house shown kﬁ.ouw ple-
ture.Only a few years‘aggéyggé howse wa® destroyed by lightning They
took inte thig home theirsmetherléss grandson.In I866,dr . .Rebert and Dr.
Lucinda bought 3 large tract of land directly Bcress the read from their
house which contained varioug wmineral Springs.These they dévelaped and
then built a large @upolaed howse for a Sanitarium for éhronic sagés,For
ten years it grew in fame ané popularity and tken the Halls,approaching
61d age,s01d the prowerty and im I885 1t burned.The old gatewaysryemain
as well as the foundations of the House overgrown with brambles,and Sev-
eral of the springs wmay Pbe¢ found sasily.In the eighties the grounds wers
at111 beautiful snd thére was = fine grove which was & popular placs for
church picnics which went osut in merry berge loads.

Pr.lucinda Capen Hall died in 1890 at'théﬁBirchdale}hame and Dr.
Robert Hall died in Conesord in IDOQ@Beth are buried in Millville Cemeter
Thaege intorésting facts of their Jein£ prafessiehal tareer appeared 1m‘
the New England Journal of Medicine,March é2,1934, T 1938 the writer
was in St.Petersburg and & handéom@,white-haired old man was pointed out
as Rev.T&C.HfBeuton,the grandgon of’this distinguished ¢oupla.

Tury brook in the neighborhood of the Daniel Hall house and the

Capen house,flows from Tury(Turee)pond in Bow and takeds its hame, So it 1
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sald from Tury Marie who once 1ivaed on the shore of the pond.tHe was a

mighty man,six feet tall,and his feats of strensth becawe legendary in
brop Works District.West of Tury brook is Bela's brook or,ss Grandsirp
Parniel Hall zalled it,Peters breok.Wo doubt this name came from that Bea-
born Beters who pioheered nesr {11llyille and to whom the Proprietors
sclél land south of Turkey bogs ig T738. -

Cne of the oldest howses in Iron Vorks PDistrict stands al Wheeler's
Corner ng pletured.About L750,Moses Noyes came to this netghborhood from
RBow and took uw land on the south side of Irop Works road.He married a
davgihter of Tury Marie and built a homé»posgibly this very house.He set

ut an orchard on both sides of the hivhway amd,s generation or tHo 2go,
a few of the tiees were still standing and atill'c&lled“ﬂoyes Orchard.”
Tradition tells that this little Parm wos ence the QT@pariy of Moses“ﬁqy,
one of the or;giﬁ@l Propristors.If seo,it wag uﬁﬁcubtealy ong of the eighb-
y aere lot divisiong.

Moses NJoyes was licemsed a8 sn innholder in IT799.In 1805 he was
drownad while erosging Turlcy river pear its eantrance into the Merrimackk
A later owmer of this farm was Jacob Towle énd.at the opening of Lhe |
nineteenth century, it belonged to Bhenezer Dusiin who owﬁeé the wills 8t
Bow Wills.Meanwhile the h@ms@~h@d beew moved o its preseant gibtesa short
dystince to the east and in I8OL,Dustin sold the Xittle farm of thirty-
four acres to Benjamin Wheeler of Badford,Macs.

A short distance down the toad te Bow thare was a small plage where
David Simpsoh fiad lived since about ITTO and wext helow Sim?ﬁ@n's wag the
Busrsasn place settled ab@ut’l?éeeIn time Whesloer acquir&ﬁ both these faim:
but the neighberhood censidered them inferior “farm jand.To their surprise
Denjanin Wheeler by shrewd wethede developed it inmto a profitafile fama.
He hadl si&ej§ﬁes'as well,and iv IBI2,he was hauling granite (or the fTirst

prigon and agaln for the State House in I8I6.
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After Wheeler's death in I848,his son,Benjamin,Jr.;carriasd on the
farm.Born in Woburn,Mass;chefore the family eéme to Concord,flz was dratted
in the War of I8I2 and was afterward a captain in the militia.He dled in
1870,1eaving thres sons,John C.,Glles and Isaac F.,all of whom were men
of gtanding in thelr generation.Giles Wheeler left notes on the historﬂof
the Iron Works which are now in the Concord Room at the City Library and
which have been a sgource of material for this chapter. »

Farthsr west on Iron Yorks rbad and on the north side of the road,
next east of Turkey river,stands the house which Moses Carter,son of Danilel
the foundry man,built about L790.The house has been rebullt and was known
to a later generation as the Philbrick place.Moses Carter and hig wife had
a famlly of eleven children and'such_was thelr reputatlion for hospltality
that 1t was said their latch string was always out?Abraham Duncklees who
cam= to Concord from Hanover about IS?O,seems to.have been the owner of
this place after Moses Carter's death in I833,at the age of seventy-one.
Duncklees married Susanna,daughter of Jacob Carter of Millville.

In I80I F¥ron Works road was officially laid out from Nathaniel
Abbot's house to'Jaseph Carter's house,three rods wide,and thence to Moses
Noyes's house,four rods wide.A new road from Wheeler's Corner to the main
village wag lald out in I820 corresponding to presenﬁ South St.as far north
a8 West St.The early highway t& Whaeler's Corner and Bow seems to have been
via Bow St.east of Bow bro;k,to avoid the deep ravine which hag gince been
filled in .Thds old highwaybrossed Bow brook through pregent RockinghamSt.
directly into Iron Works road.The IB20 road is described as"beginning on
the north side of the road from Moses Carter's to Concord Street near Benj-
amin Wheelefgs house",running thence north-ea€ to the center of the"old
road east of Bow brook",following along a part of that road and ending at
*a causeway near Arthur Rogers' house" .Rogers'house was near the triangle

at the Junction of South St.and Broadway.
The bounds of ¥ron Works District seem to be flexible for it is a
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a neighborhood subject to variation.Those who rsminisce about the old
days in Iron Works,tell stories of Silver H1ll,Bog Roéd,South 5t ,Bow and
Garvin's Falls,as well as of Silk Farm road.This latter hlghway 1ls une
doubtedly a part of an old rangeﬁﬁ# leading to eighty acre lots in the
division of I736.Near the Bow line the fimpst settler on this road ls @
said to have been Andrew Stone who served in the Crown Point expedition
in I756 and 1ater,during the Revolution.He nevsr gained title to this
land but remained a squatter for gome years.One of the few sordid tales
coming down to us from these plonecer days,centers around a lawless
daughter of Stone's.While her father was off at war her conduct- wag 80
jmmoral that some of the neighbors pulled the house down in an effort
to get rid of her.AtAthe town meeting in I780,the warrant called for
prosecution of these self-constituted reformers.

The actual owner of this land and adjacent property,was Willlam
Currier who came to Concord from Bow about IT60.He found 1t impossible
to rid his land of the lawless Sarah even after the house had bsen des
stroyed,for she built a shack of bark to shelter her loom and"when all
wags snugly closed in,crawled in with her promiscuous family of flve and
held the fort until driven out by the cold." An old law with heavy pen=
alty,protected a loom from ﬁiiful injury or removal and this wes her
safeguard.Currier was a cordwainer and he added to his farm that of
Issac Cheever who had come from Danvers,Mass.and settled on this road
about I750.Cheever was a successful farmer and built a house in which
Currier probably lived until he ,himselfibuilt the large dwelling which
at1ll stands as pictured.This 1s the William Currier mentioned in Chap-
ter XVI,because of the family's later identification with Mill?illeo

After William Currier moved to Plymouth,this farm becam2 the
property of Welis Carter and his father,Col.John Carter,veteran of the
Revolution and of the War of I8I2,spent his last years there .The farm

then comprisged an hundred acres.Col.Carter was one of Concord's most
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prominent citizens.About IT90,he pioneersd in the forest of"Greasi Swamp”
and there he bullt two houses for his sons,on property %hich later was
made famous as"Nat White's Parm" .One of thege houses,bullt for his son,
Asron,stood on the slte of the ﬁresent house on the White farm and is

now the ell of the house directly across Clinton St.lhe other house was
built for his son,William Manley Carter,and stands aé pictureif%his houge
and its surrounding farm wag purchased in I830 by Capt.Amos Paul of New-
fields who sold it to Nathaniel White in I849.

Col.John Carter's enterprises were many and varied.He 1s esald to
have bullt a saw mill and a2 grist mill at Garvin'se falls on the Bow side
of the river:it 1s ecertain that he carried them on for = a time and thap
he left them to move to "Bad Harbor" ,Bow,and built and carried on mills
there.At one time he lived on the west side of Hall St. in a little one
gtory house which fell to ruln as hers picture,gld which is now replaced
by a bungalow which stands just north of the Bow line.He also bullt a
houge on the sife of 166 South St.which later became the home of Jesse
Read from FoXboré,Mass.,liSCQd in- the I844 Diractory as"farmer,South St."
Redd was in Concord és garly as 18I7,as indicated by certificatea of
stock in the L@ndénderfy Turnpike;Part of his houge was moved to Iren
Works road but was eventually destroyed by fire.Read 1s sald to have been
"g plunt spoken" somewhat eccentric man,but a great worker.In his young
days he delighted in surpassing gveryone slse in workﬁgccomplished and
asked nothing easler than to reap and bind an acre and a half of grain
in a day. ‘

Col.John Carter was engaged in brick making and brick yard%flour«
1ghed nesr various of his homes in Iron Works,on Clinton St.and Hall St.
But it was Richard Worthen who was beet known of our early brick makers.
He moved from Bbw to Iron Works road about I7T90 and bullt a house on the
gouth side of Iron Works road'so@ewhat west of Wheeler's Corner.There he

continued the making of trenails ag he had done in Bow,carrying them to
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ship bulldere by the oxcart load.Later ko began brick meking and furnishet
brick for both the prison and the<State'HouseoIn 1835 he made the brick
for the Academy on Sand hill(Academy St.),1in hisg brick yard near present
Thompson S%.between South St.and Spring Sﬁ.,and his clay bed was.east of
gouth St.In 1821 after the new highway(now South St.) was opened,Worthen
built himself a brick house on thereon and 1% gtands,moderﬁizedgas in

the picture.The subrounding farm comprised eighty-two acres.

Turning back to Silk Farm road,we find ﬁéxt north of the Wells
Carter(William Currier)house,the olc home of Pavid Sanders {(daunders) .
The farm i1s one of the elghty acre lots and the deeds are aveilable from
1736 when 1t was apﬁortigned to PrOpfietor Robert Kimball.It approximated
ninety=-six acres.Llout .fhineas Kimball(b.I746) who settled in Appletown
(East Concord)gave the farm to his son,Benjamin Kimball Zrd(b.1781) -In
183%4,the ¥imballs sold it to "John Saunéers,Epsom,Gentleman“and described
1t as elghty acre Lot No.T4.An adjacent lot,"the Learnéd Lot" ibsnentioned
recalling the name of another of the original Proprietors,Thomes Learned
probably of Woburn,Mass.By whom the houge was built we cannot tell,but
1t was e Sanders homestead for many years.

Next north of the Sanders place was the George Corliss farm ex-
tending along both sides of the highway north to Iron Works road.Corliss
came ﬁo Concord from Salem,Mass.and bought this farm from the first sets=
tler,s colored man named @imons(Simonds) ,who had cleared the lénégot a
title and raised"a family-half white".After taking possession,Corligs
built a house and barn on the.east agide of the road,long since gone.
phere were four Corliss song,one ofwhom,John,built the house at Fush Mark
ot (M41lville) .JamesCorliss inherited the farm and the next family to 1live
there wag that of Thomeas Carter Capen,gon of Thomas Capen who came 10
Concord from Charlestown,Mass. in 1778 and married Mary Abbot(b.i76I)Aa

daughter of bEdward Abbot,Jr.Their son,Ebenezer Capen,was the one who
took over the Bela Carter farm on Bog road.Thomas Capen dled at sea in
1808.
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One of the,old Iron Works houses stands on Allison St.in Concord tmﬂay'
and its has a singular history.ft was once the home of Alpheus Chicker+s
ing and stood teod on the east side of South St. mléway between Wheelasrd,
Uorner and the Bow llne.He married Sally,daughter of Ebenezer Dustin,
but Sally ran away from home with James Emerson,a nelghbor,and the coup=
le were living in Maine in 1827.A member of the Meeting-house in Concord
since 18I7,she was"dismissed"in 1826.Such domestic tragedy was almost
unknown in the Concord of a century ago and her husband seems to have
been distraught.He lost his home and the house was purchaged and moved
to the site where our picture shows 1€?§hile he became a pauper,living
in one alms houge after another for years.
The taxable proper@y of gsome of the prominent householders at
Iron Works in I757 is suggestive:
Daniel Carter- 2 heads(poll taxes) I house,IO lands,I horse,3 swine,
2 cows,2 oxen,3 thres year olds,2 yearlings;
Nathanlel Abbot,Jr.-f head,I house,@ﬁandsyA oxen,2 cows,If{Wéyears old
I swine. ' ' ,
Richard Haseltine- I house,l head,27 lands,4 oxen,4 cows,3 three
year 61da,3 two year oldsg,2 yearlingd,3 swine.
This last invoice indicates that Jogseph Haseltine's father,Richard,lived
on the farm on Silk Farm road in I757 which accounts for four generaéi.s
tlong on this homestead.

In the early days of iron Works Distfict,its children depended
upon the school house on Silk Farm road,but in I8IT7 the people raised
funds to bulld thelr own neighborhéod séhool.lt gtood Just west of thec
Daniel Carter house and wasg a building 18 X 20 feet with 7 foot posts
and cost $I40.Llts one room had a stone fireplace and forty to sixty pu-
pils were in attendénce.Wolves were 8till common when this school was
bullt and sometimes skulked sbout this spot in winter.As late as 1835

a large wolf was killed near the school house by Capt.Bnoch Dow who, wiﬂi
X Dt .S&f:;ta['! WDL"“JO&" (Uaai? LU ’320 ‘
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other hunters,tracked the beast for a week from the northwest sectlon
of the town. ' ‘
When the 0ld school wag finally abandoned,@eorge 1.Abbott who pre-

gerved go much of the Dlstfict lore included in this chapter, purchased
the hurble 1ittle building and set it up between the ell and the barn

of his house for use as a workshop.Unfortunately the shop burned in 1941
The Abbott house stands nearly opposite the Wells Carter house and is
the only old house left on the east side of Silk Farm road.Ilt was built
by Mr.Abbott's father,Aaron Abbot(b.IT99) about I840,on land purchased
from Danlel Prince whose uncle,Dr-Jonathan Prince,was an early settleg
on a part of the Wells Carter farm.Aaron Abbot was the son of Levi Ab-
bot and grandson of the ploneer,Nathaniel Abbot ,Jr.

The Iron Works has completed its cycle.two hundred years ago 1its
peaceful river was undisturbed except for the lightufootea savage who
stooped from the trail-to drink.Follqu&Jthe period when the forest rang
with the pioneeris axe,and until the river was fretted by the clang of
the forge and the whine of mill saws.It was a happy gtream when children
loitered on their way to school and a gentlse stream when a melancholy
poet lingered there to dream.Today 1ts farms are growing to brush,its

school children ride in a bus,its industrieg are no more.Peace returns

with the years.



